STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Florence County

Honorable D. Craig Brown, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

VANCE ROSS,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2017-001045

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RECEIVED

AUG 21 2018

SC Court of Appeals

KATHRINE H. HUDGINS
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial judge err in refusing to quash as unconstitutionally overbroad and vague an indictment alleging seven counts of criminal sexual conduct with a minor between February 1, 2013, and July 31, 2014, because the lack of specificity within the time frame failed to provide sufficient notice and the time frame was not narrowed as much as possible?

2. Did the trial judge err in refusing to grant a directed verdict of acquittal on one of the two counts of criminal sexual conduct involving oral sex with Minor #1 when the State failed to present any evidence that there was more than one instance of oral sex involving Minor #1?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In January of 2016, the Florence County Grand Jury indicted Appellant, Vance Ross, for eight counts of criminal sexual conduct with a minor first degree and one count of criminal sexual conduct with a minor third degree, indictment #2016-GS-21-00122. On April 17, 2017, Appellant proceeded to jury trial on counts three through nine of the indictment before the Honorable D. Craig Brown. Thurmond Brooker represented Appellant at trial. David Richardson prosecuted the case. The jury found Appellant not guilty of count seven but guilty of the remaining six counts. Judge Brown sentenced Appellant to concurrent life sentences on each count. A timely notice of intent to appeal was filed on April 27, 2017. This appeal follows.

ARGUMENTS

- 1. The trial judge erred in refusing to quash as unconstitutionally overbroad and vague an indictment alleging seven counts of criminal sexual conduct with a minor between February 1, 2013, and July 31, 2014, because the lack of specificity within the time frame failed to provide sufficient notice and the time frame was not narrowed as much as possible.**

Prior to trial Appellant moved to quash the indictment based on State v. Baker, 411 S.C. 583, 769 S.E.2d 860 (2015). (R. pp. 8-38). In finding the indictments unconstitutionally overbroad in Baker, the South Carolina Supreme Court discussed the constitutional and statutory requirements of an indictment and wrote: “An indictment is a critical document in criminal defense preparation that is grounded in constitutional and statutory principles. *See* S.C. Const. art. I, § 11 (“No person may be held to answer for any crime the jurisdiction over which is not within the magistrate's court, unless on a presentment or indictment of a grand jury of the county where the crime has been committed....”); S.C.Code Ann. § 17-19-10 (2014) (“No person shall be held to answer in any court for an alleged crime or offense, unless upon indictment by a grand jury....”).” 411 S.C. at 588-89, 769 S.E.2d at 863.

The indictment in the present case contained nine counts. The State did not proceed on counts one and two. Counts three, eight and nine involve Minor #2 and counts four, five, six and seven involve Minor #1. Appellant was found not guilty of count seven. All seven counts begin with the following language, “That Vance Ross did in Florence County, State of South Carolina, between the dates of February 1, 2013, and July 31, 2014, willfully and unlawfully commit the crime of Criminal Sexual Conduct with a Minor in the First Degree by engaging in sexual battery with a minor who is less than eleven (11) years of age, to wit: . . .” (R. p. 365-367). The individual counts then read as follows:

Count Three: Victim Minor #2, whose date of birth is ****, by putting his penis inside of her mouth, in violation of Section 16-3-655(A)(1), S.C Code of Laws, 1976, as amended.

Count Four: Victim Minor #1, whose date of birth is ****, by putting his penis inside of her mouth, in violation of Section 16-3-655(A)(1), S.C Code of Laws, 1976, as amended.

Count Five: Victim Minor #1, whose date of birth is ****, by putting his penis inside of her mouth, in violation of Section 16-3-655(A)(1), S.C Code of Laws, 1976, as amended.

Count Six: Victim Minor #1, whose date of birth is ****, by putting his penis inside of her vagina and mouth, in violation of Section 16-3-655(A)(1), S.C Code of Laws, 1976, as amended.

Count Seven: Victim Minor #1, whose date of birth is ****, by putting his penis inside of her vagina, anus and mouth, in violation of Section 16-3-655(A)(1), S.C Code of Laws, 1976, as amended.

Count Eight: Victim Minor #2, whose date of birth is ****, by putting his penis in her vagina, in violation of Section 16-3-655(A)(1), S.C Code of Laws, 1976, as amended.

Count Nine: Victim Minor #2, whose date of birth is ****, by putting his penis in her vagina, in violation of Section 16-3-655(A)(1), S.C Code of Laws, 1976, as amended.

(R. p. 365-367). There is no other reference in the counts of the indictment as to when during the eighteen month time frame the alleged acts occurred.

Appellant argued that the indictment lacked the specificity required by Baker. (R. p. 24, lines 9-20; p. 26, lines 8-15; p. 29, line 17 – p. 30, lines 1-12). Appellant argued that the counts of the indictment could not be distinguished from one another. (R. p. 17, lines 4-17). Appellant referenced double jeopardy (R. p. 14, lines 3-6) and argued, “And then, of course, is is that if he is acquitted – if he is equally acquitted of two or four of these offenses, then, of course, the question then becomes is is that if he’s acquitted of Count 5, Count 6, Count 7, Count 8, you know, then is there sufficient enough information where he can recognize what he has been acquitted of or the Court can make a determination with what he has been acquitted of?”

Absolutely none whatsoever.” (R. p. 18, lines 3-10). Additionally, Appellant argued that the time frame alleged had not been narrowed as much as possible. (R. p. 23, lines 8-21).

The judge denied the motion to quash the indictment stating:

While the Court in Baker certainly drew the line on a six-year time limit, the Court did not overrule -- and I won't say a per se two-year or per se three-year timeline. The Court did say that these cases are to be looked at by looking at the entire surrounding circumstances existing pretrial to determine whether or not the defendant has been prejudiced, whether or not he's been taken by surprise, and hence unable to combat the charges against him.

The defendant was indicted for each of these charges and offenses back in January of 2016, and I do not believe that it would be appropriate for this Court to quash those indictments in light of the fact that State v. Wade, State v. Tumbleston -- I believe those are still good law and the Court drew a hard and fast line, so to speak, on a six-year limit. But your objection is so noted.

(R. p. 38, lines 4-17). The trial judge erred. Neither the time frame alone nor the amount of time from indictment until trial alone is dispositive in determining the sufficiency of the indictment. The test as to the sufficiency of the indictment, as discussed below, centers on notice with specificity and considers a variety of factors including the timing of indictment, whether the circumstances of the case warrant an expanded time frame, length of the expanded time frame and whether the time frame was narrowed as much as possible. The indictment in the present case lacks the minimum specificity required in order to be sufficient. The lack of specificity within the expanded time frame of the counts of the indictment failed to provide sufficient notice.

In Baker the Court relied on language from State v. Gentry, 363 S.C. 93, 610 S.E.2d 494 (2005) in addressing the sufficiency of an indictment writing:

If a defendant raises a timely challenge to the sufficiency of an indictment, the reviewing court is charged with: determining whether (1) *the offense is stated with sufficient certainty and particularity* to enable the court to know what judgment to pronounce, and *the defendant to know what he is called upon to answer* **and**

whether he may plead an acquittal or conviction thereon; and (2) whether it apprises the defendant of the elements of the offense that is intended to be charged. Gentry, 363 S.C. at 102–03, 610 S.E.2d at 500 (emphasis added). “In determining whether an indictment meets the sufficiency standard, the trial court must look at the indictment with a practical eye in view of all the surrounding circumstances.” State v. Tumbleston, 376 S.C. 90, 97, 654 S.E.2d 849, 853 (Ct.App.2007). In doing so, “one is to look at the ‘surrounding circumstances’ that existed pre-trial, in order to determine whether a given defendant has been ‘prejudiced,’ i.e., taken by surprise and hence unable to combat the charges against him.” State v. Wade, 306 S.C. 79, 86, 409 S.E.2d 780, 784 (1991).

State v. Baker, 411 S.C. 583, 589, 769 S.E.2d 860, 863-64 (2015), reh'g denied (Apr. 9, 2015).

The indictment in the present case lacks the certainty and particularity to know what Appellant was called upon to answer to each count **and** whether he may have plead an acquittal or conviction thereon. Without some distinguishing factor, for example a location, the offenses in these counts are not stated with sufficient certainty and particularity to enable the Appellant to know the accusations and determine if he has a defense to one or more counts or if he should plead guilty to some counts and demand a jury trial on the others. Without more specificity, the six counts upon which Appellant was convicted and the one count upon which he was found not guilty would not bar a subsequent prosecution.

In Baker the time frame in the indictment was expanded, right before trial, to cover a six year period. The Court held:

Given the expansive time frame and lack of specificity as to this time frame, we can only conclude Baker was prejudiced by the defects in the indictments. Although we recognize the difficulty the prosecution faces in identifying exact dates in child sexual abuse cases, the class of criminal case should not translate into an exception that operates to circumvent constitutional and statutory principles.

Accordingly, we hold the trial judge erred in refusing to quash the indictments as the non-specific, six-year period covered in the indictments was unconstitutionally overbroad because it lacked specificity as to when the alleged acts occurred.

Baker 411 S.C. at 592, 769 S.E.2d at 865. The fact that the time frame in the present case is eighteen months, rather than six years, and was not expanded prior to trial does not render the indictment sufficient. The indictment in the present case is insufficient like the indictment in Baker because it lacks the specificity required. The lack of specificity within the expanded time frame did not provide sufficient notice.

According to the minors, the alleged incidents occurred in three general locations: 1.) two hotels; 2.) in a vehicle in the driveway at grandma's house; and 3.) at the park. (R. p. 77, lines 11-16; p. 133, lines 7-11). Count three is the only count that alleges oral sex involving Minor #2. According to Minor #2 oral sex took place once at the Thunderbird Motel (R. p. 136, lines 11-19) and more than once in the driveway. (R. p. 145, lines 10-15). Because of the lack of specificity in count three of the indictment, it is impossible for Appellant to determine if the count applies to the allegation at the Thunderbird Motel or the allegation in the driveway. It is impossible to determine upon which incident the jury based the guilty verdict. S.C. Code Ann. § 17-23-10 provides, "In any plea of autrefois acquit or autrefois convict it shall be sufficient for any defendant to state that he has been lawfully acquitted or convicted, as the case may be, of the offense charged in the indictment." The charge contained in count three of the indictment, however, is nonspecific. Appellant could state that he was previously convicted of count three, pursuant to S.C. Code §17-23-10, but, based on the non-specific nature of the charge in count three, a court in a subsequent prosecution would be unable to determine which incident the jury based the guilty verdict. The State could assert that the count three conviction was for the driveway incidents and nothing would bar a subsequent prosecution for the Thunderbird incident.

Counts four and five of the indictment are identical and both allege only oral sex involving Minor #1. Count six alleges both oral and vaginal sex involving Minor #1. Count seven alleges oral, vaginal and anal sex involving Minor #1. Minor #2 testified that she observed oral sex involving Minor #1 in the driveway. (R. p. 145, lines 21-25). As discussed in issue two below, although there are two counts alleging only oral sex with Minor #1, counts four and five, the record only supports one incident of oral sex involving Minor #1. (R. p. 145, lines 21-25). Minor #2 testified that she observed anal sex involving Minor #1 at the Howard Johnson Motel. (R. p. 140, lines 5-15). Appellant was found not guilty of count seven, the only count alleging anal sex. It is impossible, however, to determine if the jury found Appellant not guilty of the anal allegation contained in count seven or the oral and vaginal allegations contained in count seven.

Minor #1 testified that vaginal sex took place at the Thunderbird Motel (R. p. 96, lines 4 – 14) and in the driveway (R. p. 84, lines 16-20). Only two of the counts, counts six and seven, allege vaginal sex and Appellant was found not guilty of count seven. Because of the lack of specificity in counts six and seven of the indictment, it is impossible for Appellant to determine if count six, the count of conviction, applies to the allegation at the Thunderbird Motel or the allegation in the driveway. It is impossible to determine upon which incident the jury based the guilty verdict. A court reviewing a double jeopardy claim in a subsequent prosecution would not be able to determine if Appellant was convicted of the Thunderbird Motel allegation or the driveway at grandma's allegation. Equally important, a court reviewing a double jeopardy claim in a subsequent prosecution would not be able to determine what Appellant was found not guilty of in count seven.

Counts eight and nine are identical and both allege only vaginal sex involving Minor #2. Minor #2 testified that vaginal sex took place more than once but less than five times at the Thunderbird Motel. (R. p. 136, line 20 – p. 137, line 1). Minor #2 testified that vaginal sex took place more than once but less than five times in the driveway at her grandma's house. (R. p. 146, lines 10-17). Because of the lack of specificity in counts eight and nine of the indictment, it is impossible for Appellant to determine if the counts apply to the allegations at the Thunderbird only, or the allegations in the driveway only or one of each. A court reviewing a double jeopardy claim in a subsequent prosecution would not be able to determine if Appellant was convicted of the Thunderbird Motel allegations or the driveway at grandma's allegations.

Tumbleston and Wade both challenged the sufficiency of the indictment based on expanded time frames. Appellant's challenge involves the expanded time frame and the lack of specificity in the counts of the indictment. This lack of specificity within the expanded time frame did not provide sufficient notice. The lack of specificity within the expanded time frame made it impossible for Appellant to know what charges he must defend against and impossible for a subsequent court to determine upon what conduct Appellant was convicted and acquitted barring subsequent prosecution.

In Tumbleston, the defendant moved to quash the indictments as insufficient because the indictments failed to allege the specific time of each offense intended to be charged. Tumbleston was indicted on four counts of criminal sexual conduct with a minor and one count of attempting a lewd act on a minor. Each indictment for criminal sexual conduct with a minor alleged a different sexual act: fellatio, cunnilingus, digital penetration and sexual intercourse. Tumbleston was found guilty of two counts of criminal sexual conduct with a minor and lewd act. The jury acquitted Tumbleston of indictment #2005-GS-10-807 alleging fellatio. The judge directed a verdict of not

guilty on indictment #2005-GS-10-809 alleging digital penetration. Finding the indictments sufficient, this Court in Tumbleston wrote:

Time is not a material element of either first-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor or committing a lewd act on a minor. *See* S.C.Code Ann. §§ 16-3-655, 16-15-140 (2003 and Supp.2006). The State is not required to denote the precise day, or even year, of the accused conduct in an indictment charging criminal sexual conduct. Thompson, 305 S.C. at 501, 409 S.E.2d at 423. Indeed, indictments for a sex crime that allege offenses occurred during a specified time period are sufficient **when the circumstances of the case warrant considering an extended time frame.** Nicholson, 366 S.C. at 574, 623 S.E.2d at 103; . . .

376 S.C. at 101–02, 654 S.E.2d at 855 (emphasis added). The Court in Tumbleston found that the circumstances of the case warranted the broader time frame writing, “The stealth and repetitive nature of the alleged conduct compels identification of the broader time period. The victim is a young child, whom one cannot reasonably expect to recall the exact dates of the sexual abuse. B.J. verified the abuse began while she was in kindergarten, and she ensured the end of the abuse when she disclosed the offenses to her mother.” Tumbleston, 376 S.C. at 102, 654 S.E.2d at 855 (Ct. App. 2007).

In the present case, Appellant does not argue that the indictment must allege the specific time of each offense. Instead, Appellant argues that because the State sought an eighteen month time frame, the State should be required to show that the circumstances of the case warrant considering an extended time frame. No such showing was made. Additionally, each indictment in Tumbleston alleged a different sexual act during the extended time frame. No such distinction was made in the counts of the indictment in present case. Without some distinguishing factor, for example a location, the offenses in these counts are not stated with sufficient certainty and particularity to enable Appellant to know what he is called upon to answer and whether he may plead an acquittal or conviction. Even if the Court had found that the circumstances of the case

warranted an expanded time frame, the lack of specificity within the expanded time frame of the counts in the indictment did not provide sufficient notice.

In Wade the defendant urged the Court to adopt a *per se* rule that a two year time period alleged in an indictment is unconstitutionally overbroad. The South Carolina Supreme Court declined to adopt a *per se* rule and instead viewed the sufficiency of the indictment from a practical standpoint, with all the circumstances of the particular case in mind. In Wade the Court wrote:

In this case, the indictment time span was narrowed as much as possible under the circumstances. The victim was eight years old at the time of trial. She testified that the sexual offense occurred on only one occasion. She was unable to pinpoint the exact date on which this offense took place. The defendant testified that he was in the vicinity of the victim at relatively few times. The defendant lived in Athens, Georgia for much of the time of the indictment period. He claimed that from March to May of 1984, he returned to North Augusta (where the victim resided) one night a week to visit his wife and children. After this, the defendant testified that he returned to North Augusta only four times through December of 1985. The first was Christmas Day in 1984; the second was over the July Fourth weekend in 1985; the third was a one day visit in August of 1985; and the fourth was for a wedding in October of 1985.

306 S.C. at 84, 409 S.E.2d at 783. (emphasis added).

Unlike Wade who was around the minor limited times, Appellant was frequently around the minors during the eighteen month time frame. Additionally, there were multiple allegations in the present case rather than the single allegation in Wade. Although the State was aware that the minors alleged that the incidents took place in three general locations, the State failed to link the locations to a more specific time frame. There is nothing to demonstrate that the State attempted to narrow the time span as much as possible as in Wade.

Petitioner is not asking for a *per se* rule in regard to expanded time frames. Instead, the reading of Baker, in conjunction with Tumbleston and Wade, establishes that expanded time frames may be constitutionally sound only when the circumstances of the case warrant an

expanded time frame, the time frame is narrowed as much as possible and the indictment provides enough detail to provide sufficient notice within the expanded time frame. As noted by the South Carolina Supreme Court in Baker, “It is axiomatic that an indictment must include more than the elements of the charged offense.” Baker 411 S.C. at 592, 769 S.E.2d at 865. Expanded unspecified time frames should be the exception instead of the norm, should be justified by special circumstances, should be narrowed as much as possible and must provide enough specifics to provide sufficient notice. The State failed to demonstrate that special circumstances justified the expanded time frame. There is nothing in the present record to indicate that the time span was narrowed as much as possible. The lack of specificity within the expanded time frame did not provide sufficient notice.

- 2. The trial judge erred in refusing to grant a directed verdict of acquittal on one of the two counts of criminal sexual conduct involving oral sex with Minor #1 when the State failed to present any evidence that there was more than one instance of oral sex involving Minor #1.**

At the close of the State’s case Appellant moved for a directed verdict of acquittal on all counts. (R. p. 263, line 22 – p. 264, 265, 266, 267, lines 1-23). Counsel for Appellant specifically argued:

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