ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Florence County
Honorable D. Craig Brown, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2017-001045

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

VANCE ROSS,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

EDGAR LEWIS CLEMENTS, III
Solicitor, Twelfth Judicial Circuit

Box Q, City-County Complex
Florence, South Carolina 29501
(843) 665-3091

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

AUG 16 2018

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Florence County

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

ARGUMENT

I.

The trial judge properly denied Appellant's motion to quash the multi-count indictment charging him with seven distinct counts of first-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor because the language used in those counts was sufficient to fully provide him with the required notice in regard to the charges he was facing and because the eighteen-month time span alleged in the counts was not unconstitutionally overbroad in light of the fact it could not be narrowed further based on the young age of the victims coupled with their inability to remember the precise times and locations of the many instances of sexual abuse inflicted upon them by their father.

Appellant contends the trial judge reversibly erred by refusing to quash the indictment issued in his case. In support of that contention, Appellant maintains the eighteen-month time span alleged in the seven counts of first-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor for which he was tried was unconstitutionally overbroad and vague due to the fact it failed to provide sufficient notice, was not narrowed as much as possible, and was lacking in sufficient specificity. Contrary to Appellant's contention, the different counts of the multi-count indictment issued in Appellant's case were not unconstitutionally overbroad and provided sufficient notice such that the trial judge was able to know what judgment to pronounce in the event of a conviction, Appellant was able to know what he was called upon to answer, and Appellant was apprised of the elements of the offense charged in each count. Furthermore, the eighteen-month time span alleged in the different counts was not unconstitutionally overbroad and, instead, was sufficiently specific—particularly in light of the young age of the victims and the victims' inability to be any more specific regarding the timing and exact location of the many acts of sexual abuse they endured—such that Appellant was neither incapable of combating the charges raised against him nor taken by surprise in any manner. Accordingly, under those circumstances, there was no legitimate basis upon which to quash the multi-count indictment issued in Appellant's case, and

the trial judge properly denied Appellant's motion to quash. Appellant's convictions should be affirmed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001). "In appeals of pretrial rulings, [the appellate court] is 'bound by fact findings in response to motions preliminary to trial when the findings are supported by the evidence and not clearly wrong or controlled by error of law.'" Reed v. Becka, 333 S.C. 676, 684, 511 S.E.2d 396, 400 (Ct. App. 1999) (quoting State v. Amerson, 311 S.C. 316, 320, 428 S.E.2d 871, 873 (1993)). Importantly, a trial judge's ruling on a matter "will not be disturbed absent a prejudicial abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law." State v. Sheldon, 344 S.C. 340, 342, 543 S.E.2d 585, 585-586 (Ct. App. 2001). An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial judge's conclusions lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law. State v. Elders, 386 S.C. 474, 480, 688 S.E.2d 857, 861 (Ct. App. 2010).

ANALYSIS

In South Carolina, an indictment issued by a grand jury is generally required before an individual can be held to answer in any court for a criminal offense. See S.C. Const. art. I, § 11 ("No person may be held to answer for any crime the jurisdiction over which is not within the magistrate's court, unless on a presentment or indictment of a grand jury of the county where the crime has been committed, except in cases arising in the land or naval forces or in the militia when in actual service in time of war or public danger."); see also S.C. Code Ann. § 17-19-10 ("No person shall be held to answer in any court for an alleged crime or offense, unless upon indictment by a grand jury, except [under certain circumstances]."). Generally speaking, an indictment is a notice document, and its "primary purpose" is "to put the defendant on notice of

what he is called upon to answer, *i.e.*, to [apprise] him of the elements of the offense and to allow him to decide whether to ple[a]d guilty or stand trial.’ ” State v. Smalls, 364 S.C. 343, 346-347, 613 S.E.2d 754, 756 (2005) (citation omitted); see State v. Gentry, 363 S.C. 93, 102, 610 S.E.2d 494, 500 (2005) (“The indictment is a notice document.”).

When evaluating an indictment, the indictment shall be considered to be sufficient if “the offense is stated with sufficient certainty and particularity to enable the court to know what judgment to pronounce, the defendant to know what he is called upon to answer, and acquittal or conviction to be placed in bar to any subsequent conviction.” State v. Crenshaw, 274 S.C. 475, 477, 266 S.E.2d 61, 62 (1980); see S.C. Code Ann. § 17-19-20 (“Every indictment shall be deemed and judged sufficient and good in law which, in addition to allegations as to time and place, as required by law, charges the crime substantially in the language of the common law or of the statute prohibiting the crime or so plainly that the nature of the offense charged may be easily understood and, if the offense be a statutory offense, that the offense be alleged to be contrary to the statute in such case made and provided.”). Importantly, “the true test of an indictment’s validity is not whether it could be made more definite and certain, but whether it contains the necessary elements of the offense intended to be charged and sufficiently apprises the defendant of what he must be prepared to meet.” State v. Smalls, 336 S.C. 301, 307, 519 S.E.2d 793, 796 (Ct. App. 1999); see Gentry, 363 S.C. at 103, 610 S.E.2d at 500 (“[W]hether the indictment could be more definite or certain *is irrelevant*.” (emphasis added)).

If a defendant wishes to challenge the sufficiency or validity of an indictment, the defendant must move to quash or dismiss the indictment prior to the jury being sworn. See S.C. Code Ann. § 17-19-90 (“Every objection to any indictment for any defect apparent on the face thereof shall be taken by demurrer or on motion to quash such indictment before the jury shall be

sworn and not afterwards.”). Such a motion challenging the sufficiency or validity of the indictment raises “a question of whether a defendant properly received notice he would be tried for a particular crime.” State v. Tumbleston, 376 S.C. 90, 96, 654 S.E.2d 849, 852 (Ct. App. 2007); see also State v. Garrett, 305 S.C. 203, 206, 406 S.E.2d 910, 911 (Ct. App. 1991) (“A motion to quash an indictment addresses the sufficiency of the indictment, not the sufficiency of the State’s evidence.”), overruled on other grounds by State v. Ramsey, 311 S.C. 555, 430 S.E.2d 511 (1993).

When a timely and proper challenge to the sufficiency of an indictment has been raised, what the trial judge is called upon to determine is: (1) whether the offense is stated with sufficient certainty and particularity to enable the court to know what judgment to pronounce and the defendant to know what he is called upon to answer and to be able to make a decision as to whether to plead guilty or stand trial; and (2) whether the defendant is apprised of the elements of the offense intended to be charged. Tumbleston, 376 S.C. at 96-97, 654 S.E.2d at 852. In making such a determination, the trial judge must look to the indictment with a practical eye and examine the circumstances that existed prior to trial in order to determine whether the defendant was prejudiced in the sense that defendant was taken by surprise and unable to combat the charges against him as a result of the indictment. State v. Wade, 306 S.C. 79, 86, 409 S.E.2d 780, 784 (1991). If an indictment satisfies the requisite conditions and, thus, is facially valid, the trial judge should deny the defendant’s motion to quash or dismiss the indictment. See State v. Williams, 301 S.C. 369, 371, 392 S.E.2d 181, 182 (1990) (holding a motion to dismiss an indictment was properly denied because the indictment was facially valid and instructing the validity of an indictment is not affected by the character of the evidence considered by the grand jury); see also Tumbleston, 376 S.C. at 98, 654 S.E.2d at 853 (“[A]n indictment passes legal

muster when it charges the crime substantially in the language of the statute prohibiting the crime or so plainly that the nature of the offense charged may be easily understood.”).

Notably, in State v. Wade, our Supreme Court considered a challenge to the sufficiency of a first-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor indictment that alleged Wade sexually abused the victim at some unspecified point in time during a twenty-four-month span of time. Id., 306 S.C. at 80, 409 S.E.2d at 781. In finding that indictment to be sufficient and not overbroad, the Supreme Court rejected Wade’s contention the broad span of time alleged in the indictment denied him an ability to prepare a defense to the charged offense, noting Wade proceeded with a defense of complete denial and further noting an ordinary individual would not be able to account for his whereabouts for purposes of an alibi defense even if the span of time alleged was just a month or some shorter period of time. Id. at 83-84, 409 S.E.2d at 783. Furthermore, the Supreme Court noted the time span alleged in the indictment was narrowed “as much as possible under the circumstances” based on the fact the victim was eight years old and unable to pinpoint the exact date on which the offense occurred. Id. at 84, 409 S.E.2d at 783. In light of those circumstances, the Supreme Court analyzed the indictment in Wade’s case and determined it was neither unconstitutionally overbroad nor prejudicial to Wade in the sense it took him by surprise and prevented him from combating the charges against him. Id. at 86, 409 S.E.2d at 784.

Similarly, in State v. Tumbleston, this Court considered a challenge to the sufficiency of two indictments alleging Tumbleston sexually assaulted his granddaughter during a forty-two-month span of time. Id., 376 S.C. at 93, 654 S.E.2d at 850-851. In finding the indictments to be sufficient, this Court noted a two-pronged test had been adopted for determining whether a purportedly overbroad indictment was sufficient that required a court to determine whether time

was a material element of the offense charged and whether the time period alleged in the indictment occurred prior to the return of the indictment. Id. at 98-99, 654 S.E.2d 853-854. Applying that test to Tumbleston's case, this Court concluded both prongs were satisfied as time was not an element of the charged sexual offenses and the indictments were issued subsequent to the time periods in which the offenses were alleged to have occurred. Id. at 99, 654 S.E.2d at 854. Furthermore, this Court rejected Tumbleston's contention the broad time period specified in the indictments prevented him from adequately preparing his defense in light of the fact the indictments contained the necessary elements of the offense coupled with the fact Tumbleston proceeded forward with a defense of denial that was simply disbelieved by the jury. Id. at 102, 654 S.E.2d at 855.

More recently, in State v. Baker, 411 S.C. 583, 588, 769 S.E.2d 860, 863 (2015), our Supreme Court considered a challenge to the sufficiency of multiple indictments that alleged sexual offenses involving minor victims occurred over a six-year span of time. In finding those indictments to be insufficient, a two-justice plurality joined by a single additional justice in result only noted the indictments in Baker's case originally alleged the sexual abuse occurred during an identifiable span of the summers of three separate years but were amended approximately two weeks before trial to greatly expand the time frame of the allegations to cover a period extending continuously over the course of *six entire years*.¹⁰ Id. at 590, 769 S.E.2d at 864 (plurality

¹⁰ Notably, because the decision in Baker was a plurality decision, the portion of the decision reached on the narrowest ground constituted the precedential portion of that decision. See Marks v. United States, 430 U.S. 188, 193 (1977) ("When a fragmented Court decides a case and no single rationale explaining the result enjoys the assent of five Justices, 'the holding of the Court may be viewed as that position taken by those Members who concurred in the judgments on the narrowest grounds'"). In Baker, Justice Pleicones's concurrence *in result only* constituted the narrowest ground upon which the plurality's decision was reached. See Baker, 411 S.C. at 592, 769 S.E.2d at 865 (plurality opinion) (reversing Baker's case after two justices specified particular reasons why they believed reversal was appropriate while a single justice agreed

opinion). In light of that exceedingly broad six-year time frame coupled with the lack of specificity included in the indictments, the plurality concluded the indictments were unconstitutionally overbroad due to the fact no defendant “could effectively defend himself against a six-year time frame.” Id. at 591-591, 769 S.E.2d at 864-865 (plurality opinion). Furthermore, the plurality concluded Baker was personally prejudiced in his case based on the short preparation time he had in light of when the overbroad indictments were issued coupled with the fact potentially exculpatory evidence was destroyed prior to his trial. Id. at 590-591, 769 S.E.2d at 864 (plurality opinion). As a result, the plurality concluded the indictments issued in Baker’s case were unconstitutionally overbroad and the trial judge erred by refusing to grant his motion to quash. Id. at 592, 769 S.E.2d at 865 (plurality opinion). However, the plurality expressly noted the indictments would have been sufficient “[h]ad [they] alleged that the conduct occurred during the summer months of the years 1998 through 2004, i.e., June 1 until September 1”—a span of time covering twenty-one total months. Id. at 592, n. 5, 769 S.E.2d at 865 (plurality opinion).

In the case sub judice, Appellant was indicted for seven counts of first-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor, and the multi-count indictment issued in his case included the relevant language from the statute defining the offense with which Appellant was charged in each of the counts, identified the eighteen-month time span during which the abuse was alleged by the victims to have occurred, listed the specific victim and particular type or types of sexual battery involved in each count, and specifically stated all the incidents were alleged to have

reversal was appropriate but joined in the result only without specifying any grounds as to why he believed the case should be reversed). As a result, the decision in Baker has *no* precedential value beyond the peculiar facts of that case. Cf. Wolfe v. Legg, 60 Wash. App. 245, 249, n. 2, 803 P.2d 804, 807 (Wash. Ct. App. 1991) (“[A particular appellate decision] was the result of a plurality decision with the fifth vote, concurring in the result only, being unaccompanied by an opinion. We therefore do not find it possible to assess the correct holding of the case.”).

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